Chapter 4

EXPRESSIONS OF CONCERN

The 1966 Proposal discussed and approved by members of the Senjor Medical Staff and
Hospital Medical Committee contained a bold hypothesis: that carcinoma in situ does
not progress to invasive cancer. Not only did it have obvious implications for the wom-
cnincludedin the group to be observed, but medical, ethical, scientific and human ramifi-
cations also. From 1966 right down to the present day it has had significance for the health
of patients, and will have significance for the practice of gynaecology and the design and
review of research in this country. Because these effects are so wide ranging it was im-
portant toestablish whether or not the Proposal and its hypothesis were questioned, and
if so, whatif any action was taken in response.

I have been drawn inexorably to the conclusion that although there was increasing op-
positionto the 1966 trial, both internationally and at National Women's Hospital, there
was no will to confront and resolve the difficult issues that emerged. For 20 years there
was criticism, yet no special effort was made to ensure that patients’ health did not suffer
as aresult of Dr Green’s attempt to prove his hypothesis. Until the Auckland Hospital
Board recommended the current Inquiry, no person or body with the power or respon-
sibility to intervene took steps to deal decisively with its consequences. The medical
profession failed in its basic duty to its patients.

This chapter traces the attempts of a few concerned health professionalsto make the med-
ical establishment aware of the reasons for their disquietand so provoke areassessment
of the basis and ethics of the trial.

DR McINDOE'S INTERVENTIONS

DrMecIndoe died about a year before this Inquiry began. He has been both praised and
criticised during the hearing of evidence. Frequently he was blamed subtly for events
quite beyond his control. On occasions it seemed that, now dead, he became a convenient
scapegoat formuch thathas gone wrong at National Women’s Hospital as aresult of the
1966 trial. His presence has been powerfully felt throughout the hearings and yet for 20
years his mounting concernabout the dangers of the Proposal was disregarded or treated
lightly.

1. June 20, 1966

Among Dr Mcindoe's papers was a memorandum which, in later correspondence and
memoranda, he claimed to have tabled at the meeting of Senior Medical Staff on the even-
ing of 20 June 1966. It said:

“Again, I believe Professor Green has made a useful confributionin insisting

that progression from in-situ to Invasive Carcinoma of the cervixis not invari-

able. 1do, however, find it difficult to accept his statement that Carcinoma-in-

Situ and Invasive Carcinoma of the cervix, are not related conditions.

“On morphological grounds: the appearance of the cells, in dysplasia,
carcinoma-in-situ and Invasive Carcinoma of the cervix, there does seem to
be a relationship.

“Taccept at present, thatthereisa relationship between these conditions, but
that the so-called progression from one to the other, may be uncommon....
Ifitis accepted that such progression does occur then the attitude to treatment
and follow-up will be tempered somewhat by the frequency of this occur-
rence.
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“Atour present state of knowledge rather than swing to an extremely conser-
vative position with respect to treatment, Ifeel the correct measure would be
to aim to remove tissue responsible for the positive smear and to followup pa-
tients conservatively thereafter who show no further significant cytological
or colposcopic abnormality.

“Furthermore, | believe an authoritative approach to any problem in medi-
cine can be unfortunate unlessitis quite obvious that alternative methods of
care are either dangerous or unsound.

“In the present case, inadequate tissue diagnosis, which can be the only
description of the type of biopsy I at present perform (if this is to be the only
biopsy done), and follow-up, only taking further steps if there is clinical or
colposcopic evidence of invasion, would seem to me the type of care that
should not befollowed. Conservative excision of thelesion is in my view the
treatment of choice.”

There was a final sentence in the memorandum :
“If Professor Green's proposal is accepted, I would feel it very difficult to take
seriously any cytology reporting or colposcopic assessment.”

When asked in evidence about this memorandum, neither Dr Green, Professor Bonham,
Mr Grieve nor Mr Faris recalled Dr McIndoe tabling or speaking to it. Some as corrobo-
ration, pointed to the fact that it was not included in the record of the Minutes. However,
DrWarren recalled the incidentin some detail. As chairman of the meeting he had good
reason to remember Dr McIndoe’s concern when he received his copy of that night’s
Agenda.

On the afternoon of 20 June 1966 Dr McIndoe had called to see Dr Warren and asked if
it would be in order for him to prepare and table a memorandum setting out his views
on Dr Green’s proposal. Dr Warren even recalled asking Dr McIndoe to remove that fi-
nal sentence from the memorandum. His reason for this request, as far as he canrecall
21 yearslater, was that he felt the sentence might have been seen as “letting down cytol-
ogy and colposcopy”. DrMcIndoe came to see him again the following day. This time he
was concerned that he had not expressed his opposition to the Proposal forcefully
enough.

DrMcIndoereferred to his 1966 memorandum in two memorandain theearly 1970s. On
13July 1971, in a memorandum which records his thoughts at the time but which may
not have been sent to anyone, he wrote:

“Carcinoma in situ:

In June 1966 Professor Green circulated a memorandum in which he noted

that 503 cases of Ca. in Situ up to December 1965 had been treated in this

hospital — 68.2% of these had been treated by cone biopsy or lesser procedure.

‘One case is alleged to have progressed to invasion etc...

“This memorandum was considered at Senjor Staff meeting on 20/6/66 and
isrecorded in the Minutes (folio 193 and 201) — a copy of this memorandum
is attached.

I wrote some comments on Professor Green’s proposals which was cy-
clostyled and available at the Staff Meeting (20/6/66) and spoke re my state-
ment but this was not recorded in the Minutes (a copy of my statement is
attached with last sentence deleted at Dr Warren’s request).

“Professor Green was allowed to proceed with his views to a limited extent
as noted in Senior Staff Minutes (folio 201) and also Hospital Medical Com-
mittee Minutes.”

The 1966 memorandum is referred to again in another sent to Dr Warren and dated 14
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December 1973. These two papers and Dr Warren’s evidence convinced me that the
memorandum with the handwritten date, 20.6.66, was tabled at the Senior Staff meet-
ing and that Dr McIndoe also voiced his concerns. Itis just as obvious from the evidence
thatother doctors who attended had no recollection at all of his oral or written comuments.
Itisentirely possible that although he tabled his memorandum, it was not physically cir-
culated amongst those present.

During the course of the Inquiry DrMcIndoe was revealed as a quiet man. Within the hi-
erarchy of medical specialists at the Hospital at that time he was, as counsel represent-
inghis Estate putit, “equivalent to the office boy trying to tell the Managing Director how
torunthe firm”. While there was “lengthy discussion during which Professor Greenan-
swered many questions”, and although Dr Green in his evidence said that he expected
some senior staff tooppose the Proposal “because some of them believed that hysterec-
tomy was still the correct treatment”, Dr McIndoe’s views do not seem to have registered
withhis colleagues and they were disregarded by those members of the Senior Medical
Staff who formed the Hospital Medical Committee and approved the Proposal.

2. Action after 1966

Almost three years after the 1966 Proposal was tabled and accepted, Dr McIndoe ad-
dressed a memorandum to Dr Green with the handwritten date 15.4.69, It read:
“Your raising with me on Monday 14th April of my comments concerning
regrading patients originally diagnosed and classified as Carcinoma in Situ
— regrading to Invasive Carcinoma and thus making them ineligible for in-
clusion in the Ca. in Situ follow up series, gives me the opportunity of rais-
ing with you a number of the issues involved.

“lunderstand you now to say that if there is no unequivocal evidence of in-
vasion after one year of observation by all methods available: cytology, col-
poscopy, histology and clinical, then the case will firmly be classified as Non
Invasive, no matter what the initial histology assessment.

“I'have accepted up to now, three months between initial histology diagno-
sis and radical treatment as the evidence that the initial lesion was considered
Non Invasive. On this basis T have noted a number of patients who have ful-
filled my criteria of Non invasive Initially — Now Invasive. T have tried toavoid
the use of the word ‘progression’ because itintroduces aconcept not helpful
to these discussions.

[Here Dr McIndoe lists and comments on seven cases. ]

“Tunderstand further from you that anumber of cases originally classified as
invasive younow classify as Carcinomain Situ. [f these patients have had rad-
icaltreatment, the fact of their reclassification should certainly be noted and
considered parallel with other non invasive cases which have not had radi-
cal treatment.

“Ifind myselfin a difficult position in this study. Increasing pressure iscom-
ingfromthe so called pundits in cytology, Wied, Koss, Frost, Von Hamm, in
particular, to make ahistological prediction on the basis of the cytology find-
ings. Numbers of people are going away from the Papanicolaou 1-5 Grade
report and instead replacing the report with such terms as:

‘Probable Dysplasia’

‘Findings consistent with Carcinoma in Situ’

‘Findings of Invasive Carcinoma’ or

"Invasive Adenocarcinoma’

“Frost spoke at Chicago and Koss at Rio de Janeiro in this manner.
“Afterwards at Koss’laboratory in New York, I was critical of this dogmatism
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displayed by Koss to another member of his staff. Thave noted in my report
my concernat thistypeof cytology reporting. I was informed in Koss’ depart-
ment thatitis understood whathe meansby thesereports in his ownhospi-
tal — the hospital staff do not take too seriously his dogmatic utterances.

“1] Sullivan on the local scene has continued for anumber of years to add the
phrase at times to reports, Invasive Carcinoma, meaning he believes there
isa highly significant chance of this being a case of invasive carcinoma. I can
also do this, but I believe this opinion is of little value when it will be shown
incorrectin perhaps 50% of cases. Regrettably, however, ourlocal experience
has no influence on the continuing pressure in particular from the United
States to dispense with whatis called the ‘number game’ incytology report-
ing and come down with a written report.

“Thave wondered for some time whether there is not a place for some open
correspondence perhapsin the Red Journal between various people in Aus-
tralasia on the various concepts involved in diagnosis and treatment of car-
cinoma of the cervix.

“From my reading and findings during my study tour last year I am convinced
that some of the patients treated here successfully by local excision and clas-
sified Non invasive are treated in many places radically and classified INVA-
SIVE. Tknow you have the same view.

“Iwonderwhetherit canbe claimed that if a patient is ever successfully treated
then this is evidence that she was not suffering from cancer.

“Tunderstood from remarks Harry Jamieson made to me at the dinner on
Thursday 10th, that Malcolm Coppleson waskeen to come overhere and see
some of our material. If you agree and this could be arranged, we could all
benefit and I believe it would be possible to convince him that conservative
care is a valid concept.

“Inaddition we would need sufficient notice to get up representative cases
forhimtosee — the posthysterectomy cases forexample, MrsL..., andsoon.”

Dr Green denied having seen that memorandum until reading the evidence of Sandra
Coney, another party tothe Inquiry. It was referred toinasubsequent memorandum dat-
ed 14 December 1973 which was sent to the Medical Superintendent, Dr Warren, in which
Dr McIndoe wrote:

”...Thave endeavoured by all means possible in a mature and dignified man-

ner to make my feclings plain [to Dr Creen] and so note down specific in-

stances of my attempts. ... (b)in personal memorandumto him, dated 15.4.69.”

The Aprilmemorandum had also been mentioned in another memorandumto the Med-
ical Superintendent dated 10 October 1973 when Dr McIndoe wrote:
“Criticism of my attitudes by Professor Green —
Following some criticism of my attitudes in 19691 presented Professor Green
with a memorandum on 154.69 (attached 8) noting several patients about
whomIwas concerned. Ireceived no satisfactory comments inreply. On five
occasions in the last two years, Ihave been ‘vigorously interrogated by Profes-
sor Green, twicein Ward 9 and on the last three occasions have been invited
to his room and subjected to further ‘vigorous examination”. On the last oc-
casion, approximately one year ago, I was goaded into calling him irrespon-
sible in his attitudes and management of patients”

DrMcIndoe also referred to his memorandum to the Senior Staff meeting which he noted
he had tabled and spoken to atlength. He wenton to ennumerate other occasions when
he had tried to make plain his feelings:
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“c) Inprivate, on three occasions in his room in 1972. Professor Liggins in-
terrupted one of these occasions when he came into the room and made a
comment such as, ‘Are you two still at it?"

d) Inprivate, on two occasions in early 1972 in Ward 9, following the ward
round when he saw fit to ‘rebuke’ me for comments [ had made during the
round.

€) Inprivate in commenting on management of [Patient CODE 30Q], towards
the end of February 1971.

f) Letter to NZ Medical Journal in name of Dr S E Williams and myself,
dated August 1972 (p129)”

This record of incidents, together with the memorandum of 15 April 1969, leads me to
conclude that from 1969 at least, Dr Mcindoe continued to voice and record his concerns
about the implications of the 1966 Proposal. While Dr McIndoe recorded a variety of heat-
ed discussions with Dr Green in some detail, in giving evidence Dr Green responded
to the suggestion that the two of them “were in fact at odds on it [the 1966 Proposal]right
from the start” by saying;

“Ididn’t believe so. Ididn’t see his memorandum of 66 or of 69and | certainly

don'teverremember having three, what he suggests is three occasions of his,

in private on three occasions in his room and Professor Liggins saying, Are

youstillatit?! .. Icertainly wasn't aware of it, and I still thoughtIwas friend-

Iy with Dr McIndoe until 1975 when he refused to speak to me further. Now

DrMecindoe may keep these things to himself. He certainl ly never made plain

tome his feelings other than through those letters about patients thatIreplied

to.”

Summary and conclusions: Dr McIndoe’s concerns were recorded repeatedly at times
when he could have had no possible suspicion that they would be aired so publicly. Af-
ter 0 many years it is entirely possible that Dr Green does not recall reading the
memorandum dated 15 April 1969. Nonetheless [ am satisfied that it was sent to him. I
also accept that the 20 June 1966 memorandum was tabled at the Senior Medical Staff
meeting and spokento by DrMcIndoe. And finally, laccept Dr McIndoe's record of their
verbal exchanges, and the manner in which they were expressed in the memoranda of
10 October and 14 December 1973 addressed to the Medical Superintendent of Nation-
al Women'’s Hospital.

Some parties to the Inquiry obviously considered that Dr Green lied to me. I do not be-
lieve that was the case. [ think there are two other possibilities.

Thefirstis thathe simply does notrecall receiving the memoranda or holding any heat-
ed discussions with Dr McIndoe. Although Dr McIndoe died before the Inquiry start-
ed, his memorandaand descriptions of his personality suggest that what he might have
considered avigorous or heated debate, might simply be overlooked by a far more forceful
personality such as Dr Green, in the way thata waspisbrushed fromone’s sleeve before
it has stung.

The second possibility was one suggested by several parties. It is that Dr Green held a
theory which he was determined to prove, namely that CIS was a benign lesion which
did not progress to invasive cancer. Any viewpoint contrary to his was simplyignored.

Ipreferacombination of these alternative possibilities. Although DrMcIndoe was con-
cerned fromthe start about the 1966 trial and its repercussions on the patients involved
as the study developed, he did not begin to express his views strongly and publicly un-
til 1973.

The 15 April 1969 memorandum, while touchingon Dr Green's regrading of patients from
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anoriginal diagnosis of carcinomain situ toone of invasive cancer, is so understated and
deferential in discussing this importantissue that his concernis masked and the points
he strove to make obscured. Nonetheless, this memorandum represented an attempt to
conduct an intelligent debate on the issue. An attempt which failed.

I have been left with the eerie impression that Dr McIndoe’s various memoranda and
notes were almost prophetic. The documentationof what he saw first as adebate and later
as a matter needing urgent action, demonstrates how closely he watched the develop-
ment of the 1966 trial and his mounting concern for its consequences.

THE 1975 WORKING PARTY

Itistrueto say thatafter 20 june 1966, DrMcindoe acquiesced in and even supported Dr
Green's Proposal for a period. Butas hisapprehensionsincreased and he remained un-
able to have his point of view seriously considered, he embarked on a more telling line
of action. The 10 October 1973 memorandum he wrote to the Medical Superintendent
of NWH began:

“I have not been entirely happy, foranumber of years, with the management

of many patients who have had abnormal cytology and colposcopy findings.”

Afternotingthathehad expressed his disagreement with the 1966 trial fromthe outset,
he went on to say:
“For atime following this meeting, [began to wonder whether [ had beenun-
necessarily concerned. However, the subsequent clinical course of anumber
of patients having varying forms of conservative care, leads me to believe that
areappraisal of policy towards management of patients with abnormal cytol-
ogy and colposcopy findingsis called for. Brief notes on some of these patients
are attached. A longer list of patients who should be carefully reviewed is
available.”

He also noted that there was a further list of patients with continuing positive cytology
whom hebelieved might, if adequately biopsied, demonstrate invasive carcinoma. At-
tached to his memorandum were the names and brief details of seven patients whose con-
dition, following conservative care, had led Dr McIndoe to seek a reappraisal of the
management of patients with abnormal cytology and colposcopy findings.

By this time Dr McIndoe, although not a member of the Hospital Medical Committee,
was asufficiently senior member of the Hospital staff for the memorandum to be taken
extremely seriously. Nor was he alone in his concern. Dr Malcolm McLean, the Pathol-
ogistin Charge at National Women’s Hospital, was also worried. In 1966 he did not op-
pose Dr Green's Proposal believing that if a Senior Medical Staff member demonstrated
adequate reason, the patient whose condition had aroused their concern would be defini-
tively diagnosed and given conventional treatment. But by thelate 1960s he had discussed
several patients with Dr Green who were later found to have invasive carcinoma. Dr
McLean said:
“He would not accept my views, my concerns.”

On'18 October 1973 Dr McLean forwarded his own memorandum to the Medical Superin-
tendent on the diagnosis and management of carcinoma in situ of the cervix.
“The group of patients  am referring to were considered to be cases of carci-
nomain situ of the cervix and were treated conservatively for reasons I con-
sider not soundly based. These patients, in the course of follow-up, have
turned out to have invasive carcinoma of the cervix.

“The point for concern is the fact that a diagnosis of carcinoma in situ was
made on inadequate biopsies, usually a punch biopsy, and despite positive
cervical cytology smears during follow-up, and sometimes my warning of
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possible invasive carcinoma nearby. These patients were managed conser-
vatively and adequate biopsies to exclude invasive carcinoma were not taken
until after varying periods of delay. In every case these patients were subse-
quently shown to have invasive carcinoma of the cervix.

“We have insufficient knowledge of carcinoma in situ of the cervix and its rela-
tionship to early invasive carcinoma of the cervixexcept in the broadest terms
and we are not justified in managing cases of supposed carcinoma in situ
conservatively unless adequate efforts have been made to exclude invasive
carcinoma [my emphasis].

“My experience hasbeen that the majority of cases of early invasive carcino-
maare associated with a carcinoma insitu component and thatan inadequate
biopsy may show only thelatter lesion. We cannot say for certain, butitis likely
thatin most of these cases causing concern, invasive carcinoma was present
when the patient was first seen.

“Inmy opinion, these patientshave had what can be termed varying degrees
of delayed and inadequate treatment for a disease (invasive carcinoma) that
is generally considered to warrant urgent hospital admission for adequate di-
agnosis and definitive treatment. I believe that the present mode of manage-
ment of this type of patient needs to be reappraised.

“Alistof patients causing this concern, with details of their histology and my
brief comments, is attached. In these lists, the site and nature of each biopsy
as indicated in the request form appears in capital letters and the histologi-
cal diagnosis follows in small letters.”

Dr Warren, the Medical Superintendent to whom these memoranda were addressed,
hadinfactinvited the two doctors to document their concerns. He had been aware that
there were differences of opinion. Both doctors had already talked to him about it. He
obviously took them sufficiently seriously to consult DrMoody, the Superintendent-in-
Chief of the Auckland Hospital Board. In any hospital the opinions of two senior
specialists, supported by carefully documented evidence, should result in an immedi-
ate and thorough management review of the cases in question at the very least.

DrMoody, although medically qualified, considered his role first and foremost as that
of anadministrator. Inreply to Dr Warren he set out the managerial steps to be followed
when responding to Drs McIndoe and McLean. His memorandum is that of the efficient
administrator, but there is a hint of concern when he says,

“After long and careful consideration of these papers [Drs McIndoe and

McLean’s of October 1973}, Iconclude that there appears to be evidence to sug-

gest that there is misinterpretation of histological and clinical findings — pos-

sibly to the detriment of patients.”

However, the steps he advocated, although entirely proper, do not suggestthatheregard-
edtheissueasurgent. And, as events transpired, all three memoranda were considered
with anything but urgency. In setting out the guidelines Dr Warren was to follow, Dr
Moody wrote:

“4. Inyour management and handling of this difficult problem, involving as

it does professional judgement and individual opinion, I must remind you

that there are formal administrative and constitutional steps you must fake

at the Hospital level.

5. Bearing in mind both the meaning and effect of what [ have already said,
I'suggestto you:

1) That copies of both Dr Mclndoe’s and Dr McLean’s memor-
anda should be sent to Associate Professor Green, through the
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Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, for his consideration and
comments,

Professor Green, as a clinician with care of patients, has aright to
know the reasons for the statement*. .that areappraisal of policy
towards management of patients with abnormal cytology and col-
poscopy findings is called for and is entitled to give his comments
about it.

[The emphasis is Dr Moody’s but he may just have been drawing attention
to the fact that he was quoting from Dr McIndoe’s letter to Dr Warren. |

2) AssoonasProfessor Greenhas supplied hiscomments, all the
papers relating to this topic — ie Dr McIndoe’s memorandum, Dr
McLean’s memorandum and Professor Green's comments should
be forwarded to the Secretary of the Hospital Medical Committee
forinclusion on the agenda of its next meeting.

The Hospital Medical Committee has already, on 20 June 1966,
agreed to a proposal by Associate Professor Green that women un-
der the age of 35 years be followed up without active treatment —
outpatient biopsy only.

3) Iftheresultof the meeling of the Hospital Medical Committee
isinconclusive or does not satisfy you as Medical Superintendent
in all material respects, then the whole subject should be referred
to the full Hospital Staff meeting for its consideration.

4) If, afterthiscourse of action, the matter is still unresolved to your
satisfaction, it should then bereferred through the Superintendent
in Chief to the Board”

Given the history of this debate, the only adverse comment [ would make about Dr
Moody’s memorandum (and it is made with the wisdom of hindsight) is that he ought
to have retained a direct interest or control in the matter. It was asking a great deal of Dr
Warren totry and control this dispute, considering thelong standing difficulties between
members of the Hospital'sacademic and clinical units. (Thisissue is discussed more fully
in Chapter 8, The Relationship Between the Clinical and Academic Units.)

Ifthe Superintendent-in-Chiefhad indeed retained control of the problems raised by Drs
McIndoe and McLean, thenitistobe hoped that the Working Party would have been es-
tablished with greater alacrity, and would have dealt with the heart of the issue: the health
of certain patients included in the 1966 trial.

Dir Warren spoke of his admiration for the clear guidelineslaid out in this memorandum.
He followed the suggested procedure and having given copies of Dr McIndoe’s and Dr
McLean’s memoranda to Dr Green, received inreply amemorandum dated 7 Novem-
ber 1973, It is set out here in full, excepting those parts that refer to specific patients.
“Thave received your memoof 31.10.73 through Professor Bonham. I am pre-
pared to comment on this despite my astonishment at the manner in which
two staff members have chosen to approach the matter.

“A. Background to comments.
(a) Thepolicy of aconservative approach to the management of
this condition was approved at a staff meeting in 1966.

“(b) Itis generally recognised thatinvasive cancer cannot be en-
tirely excluded unless the whole uterus and vaginais removed for
histology and that anything less can miss invasion. It is also
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"B

recognised that what constitutes histological invasion or not, par-
ticularly just the possibility of it, is a very personal and subjective
opinion that may vary greatly from one pathologist to another.

“In 1965 a survey (Green, 1965) showed that 5 pathologists, includ-
ing DrMcLean, could agree on the diagnosis of invasion in only 3
of 22 cases previously treated at National Women’s Hospital for
Stage I cervical cancer. Itis therefore apparent that there is a good
chance of over-diagnosing and treating unnecessarily radically
many women who donothave true ‘early’ cancers, and converse-
ly, of under-diagnosing invasive cancer.

“(c) Ttwastofind outsomething of the natural history of carcino-
main situ, and to avoid unnecessarily radical treatment of young
womenwith lesions merely suspected to be cancer, that the study
was designed for. [t was always acalculated risk thatinvasive cancer
could be overlooked, although it was hoped that colposcopy, clin-
ical examination, and repeated directed biopsies would minimise,
if not actually avoid, this. This had been advocated repeatedly by
Dr ]V M Coppleson in Australia and is now urged by American
authorities (eg Stafl and Mattingly, Ostergard and Gondos, Selim
etal, all 1973).

“(d) Asurvey inthis hospital (Green, 1971) shows that the length
of disease time (as judged by symptoms) before treatment affects
the survival rates not at all (except that possibly the longer the sym-
ptoms in Stage [ the better the survival rate).

“Also an analysis of 1384 cases in 1972 showed thatfor the Stage [A
(histological diagnosis only) type, into which almost all the cases
detailed by Drs McLean and McIndoefall, the 10-year survival rate
is 96+ 2 percent. It could reasonably be anticipated that even if
some ‘early’ cases were overlooked and treatment delayed, or if
some progressed to Stage 1A invasion, that such patients would not
be put at a disadvantage.

“(e) The ethicality of such a trial has since been urged by Professor
AT Cochrane, Head of the British MR C Epidemiology Unit (1971).

“(f) Eversince 1949, when [ wrote my MRCOG commentary on
‘The Early Diagnosis of Cervical Cancer’, and discussed carcinoma
in situ with the National Women's Hospital pathologist (Dr Lind-
say Brown), [havebeen studying the histology of in situ and inva-
sive cervical cancer. Since September 1956 ] have been personally
involved in the histology of approximately 1050 cases of invasive
cervical cancer.

General comments on Dr McLean’s letter
of 18.10.73 to you.

“DrMcLeanis entitled to his opinion, even on clinical mattersif he sochooses
(andhe hasso chosen), butsimilarly I must be allowed my opinion on histo-
logical matters. Dr McLean hardly ever sees the patients before treatment and
never intheir follow-up career; on the otherhand I am intimately concerned
with the history and clinical findings in many patients, their histologic sec-
tions, their treatment, and their follow-up — so that am in a better position
to say what might or might not happen to a given patient.

“In his letter Dr McLean pin-points a central problem in the diagnosis of
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pre-clinical cancer — itis likely that in most of those cases causing concern,
invasive carcinoma was present when the patient was first seen. The fact that
such things may happenbecause both clinical and histological assessments
can be inexact does not alter the fact that they are made in good faith and are
not therefore culpable as implied by Dr McLean.

“Inany case, the present population and pathological data do not suggest that
any reappraisal of the present management, possibly towards the aggressive
ablative attitude seen in some North American centres, will do anything to
lowerincidence, morbidity, and mortality from cervical cancer in either Auck-
land province or New Zealand. Sir Richard Doll has recently supported me
in this opinion.

“1f DrMcIndoehasbeen unhappy about the policy approved by the HMCin
1966 he has never made plainhis feelings — either at that time or since in a staff
meeting, inany case notes, or openly to me — about the general principles in-
volved or about individual patients he and T have followed colposcopically
and clinically.

“Also his comments are not inline with what his teacher and mentor, Dr]JV
M Coppleson has taught for many years or what is currently being advocat-
ed by North American authorities (see previous reference) — thatitis possi-
ble to distinguish invasive cancer by careful clinical and colposcopically-
directed biopsy studies.

“Thave shown inour results (paper in MRC’s recent Symposium on Epidemi-
ology) that the numbers of patients apparently progressing to invasion is small
(at most 10in 750, including 6 with positive cytological but negative clinical
and colposcopic findings), is influenced undoubtedly by the underdiagno-
sis of invasion initially and overdiagnosis later (possibly 4 examples of each
in the above 10), and that the patients have not suffered — since the lesions
whichmay be overlooked or into which they may progress are all of the Stage
1A type with close to a 100 percent probability of a 10-year survival.

“Ttis regrettable therefore that Dr McIndoe’s indecision and doubt could cost
usalongleadin the elucidation of the problem of the naturathistory of in situ
cancer. As I tried to bring out at the MRC Symposium there is increasing
weight of opinion to the effect that it is unlikely to be the simple spectrum of
progression which is implicit in both Dr McIndoe’s and Dr McLean’s com-
ments. With others, lam convinced that the successful management of inva-
sive cancerliesinits correctdiagnosis in the first place, and that many patients
will suffer unnecessarily if we are prepared to accept only one aspect of the
diagnosis and down-grade equally important historical, clinical, colposcopic
and cytological aspects.

“Inview of what is now being written and the question of whether the diag-
nosis of large numbers of in situ cancers can influence favourably incidence
and mortality rates (it has certainly not done so for Auckland province or New
Zealand) I consider it is not unethical to continue with what we are doing. This
opinion has been supported by Professor AL Cochrane, the leading British
epidemiologist concerned with population data relative to the history of in
situ cancer, and strongly by Sir Richard Doll in the recent symposium.

“E. Comments on cases nominated by Dr McIndoe
as being a cause for concern.

Thave commented quite sufficiently onall these (Section C)but consider that
Ishould do so further in the case of [Patient code 6H] in Section C. I suggest
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that you peruse carefully the case-notes (especially the Cancer Clinic follow-
up record) of this patient.

“Nowhere does DrMcIndoe express any concernin his repeated opinionsin
the8months during which he was the only personto seeher, and even when
F'was clinically suspicious of invasive cancer, he was still of the opinion that
only an in situ lesion existed. I do not consider him blameworthy in this
respect — only thatit demonstrates the essential limitations of the practice of
thetechnique, and that such cases will continue to occur, albeit rarely, nomat-
ter how careful we are about diagnosis and even if we use more than direct-
ed punch biopsies.

“"DrMclndoe does not comment on many other cases which he has followed
colposcopically and which should equally be the subject of his concern if we
take his comments and his graph at their face value. For examples, I refer to
[Patient code4D], and [Patient code 10L], [Patient code 5Q] and similarlong-
termcases; to[Patient code 7Y] who was treated as invasive and still has posi-
tive smears and a colposcopically significant lesion; [Patient code 3V1] who
was called invasive cancer but not treated as such; [Patient code 4M]whom
nobody but Dr McIndoe has seen for 3 years on account of her cervical lesion
and yet she has continuing positive cytology; [Patient code 8A1] (same re-
marks); [Patient code 8C1] a patient whom, since Dr McIndoe (on my request)
took over the follow-up, Thave not seen until recently despite her positive cy-
tology; [Patient code 4M1] whom nobody but Dr McIndoe has followed un-
til she was referred to me recently. This still does notinclude about [blank] of
405 cases (up to 1967) with a histological diagnosis of dysplasiamade only by
colposcopy and/or simple biopsy who have notyet had what DrMcIndoe calls
‘more adequate biopsy".

“His graph shows that the peak of usage (by number of new patients) of cy-
tology smears at National Women's Hospital was reached in 1964 and with
ita peak for the diagnosis of dysplasia, carcinomainsitu, invasive cancer Stage
1A and all other invasive stages. (The pronounced peak for Stage 1A lesions
suggests a certainamount of difficulty in decision between invasive and in situ
lesions).

“Exactly the same peak is seen for New Zealand as awhole forin situ and in-
vasive cancer (Cancer Data, 1970 Edition).

“This was the time of the greatest relative number of new patients being
smeared and merely revealed increased prevalence figures for these lesions.
DrMclndoe has therefore made an unjustified assumption that it was the in-
creased number of cone biopsies that was responsible for an increased num-
ber of invasive cancers discovered in the 1963-4 period at National Women's
Hospital.

“F. General Comments

(a) Inmyopinion, and without my wishing to appear derogatory,
both Dr McIndoe’s and Dr McLean’s comments demonstrate what
Sir Richard Doll (2.11.73) at the MRC Symposium described as ‘the
evil power of words Lo constrain thought’, whereby the labelling of
acase with aname like ‘carcinomain situ’ (possibly he might have in-
cluded ? invasive cancer nearby’) is synonomous in our minds with
‘cancer’ and all the implied necessity of radical treatment.

“(b) Dr McLean’s and my comments illustrate the difficulty of
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getting other opinions on histological material. Thave never been
able to get Dr McLean to ask for a second opinion from Dr ] J Sul-
livan, a pathologist whose opinionIand many others value high-
ly (for me heis ahead of DrKirkland, whois avery good personal
friend) and I have been forced to consult almost surreptitiously
with Dr Sullivan on occasions about cases in which T have had
histological doubts.

“One problem here s that standards change — Iam fairly confident
thatthe histology of the cone from the 1958 case [Patient Code 3F]
who apparently progressed to invasion after 8 years of negative
clinical and cytological findings would not now be described by too
many pathologists as carcinoma in situ, but rather moderately se-
vere dysplasia.

“Another problemhere is that DrMcLean keeps the best diagnostic
slides from many cases in his own private collection under a dis-
ease index only; these are not always made available to me and if
DrMcLean changes his classification later these special slides be-
come as good as Jost for that patient.

“(c) 1am concerned that our record on the colposcopically-
directed biopsy method of exclusion of invasive cancer, as advocat-
ed by the authorities mentioned previously, may not be perhaps
so good as these others suggest is possible. Ipropose to extend my
own personal skill and experience in this direction as much as
possible.

“(d) I'will beinterested to hear from you what you intend to do
with these comments. Willthey be considered by you alone, anad
hocstaff committee, or by the HMC? Will other staff concerned in
the managementof the above patients and therefore in the delays
indiagnosis and treatment alleged by DrMcLean, be also asked to
comment?

“As Section C shows this would include Mr Grieve, Mr Macfarlane,
MrHarbutt, Dr McIndoe, the assembled “Tumour Panel’, the ad-
missions administrative staff, and Dr McLean and hislaboratory
administrative staff because of delayed reports. Imention the lat-
teradvisedly forI have knownthe delay to beaslong as 4 years in
one case of malignancy, despite my repeated requests.”

Comment on Dr Green’s Memorandum

1. Any personreading Dr Green's papers and his correspondence to the Medical Su-
perintendent during the 1960s and 1970s will rapidly gain the impression that Dr Green
was a person of strong views, impatient with criticism and with total confidence in his
ownjudgement. Having been unprepared to debate questions on the management of
patients directly with DrMcIndoe, hisreaction tothe two memoranda forwarded to him
from Dr McIndoe and Dr McLean demonstrates his lack of patience with any system
which implies accountability amongst colleagues. His response:

“Tamprepared to commenton this, despite my astonishment at the manner

in which two staft members have chosen to approach the matter”
and again on 25 June 1974, to Dr Warren:

“The matter of Dr McIndoe’s complaints about my handling of certain pa-

tients, particularly of his extraordinary attempt to discredit me by the allega-

tions he made behind my back to staff members, and also the questions raised
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by me in reply to his written comments have not been settled”

reveal hisindignatior. This same sense of outrage comes through again in aletter to Dr
Warren on 7 November 1974:
“Itis now exactly one year since I replied to your letter about Dr McIndae's
scurrilous campraign against me.”

It would not have been easy to operate a system of peer review in this emotional climate.

2. "It was always a calculated risk that invasive cancer could be overlooked,
although it was hoped that colposcopy, clinical examination, and repeated
directed biopsiss would minimise, if not actually avoid, this.”

The“repeated directed biopsies” were not specified in the 1966 Proposal itself. The fact

that punch biopsies were tobe taken was mentioned only as an afterthought during dis-

cussion. Itseems extraordinary that Dr Green, or the Hospital Medical Committee in ap-
proving the 1966 Proposal, would allow there to be a “calculated risk that invasive cancer
could be overlooked”.

3. “The ethicality of such a trial has since been urged by Professor A L
Cochrane...”

When DrMcLean responded at Dr Warren's request to this memorandum, he said wryly:
“Twasunder the impression that Professor Green's application in 1970 to the
British Medical Research Council for a Research Grant to aid a project of the
type under discussion was declined as being unethical ”

[tseems atleast possible that DrMcLean knew then what Dr Green ultimately conced-
edatthe Inquiry: that the British Medical Research Council would not approve the trial
because it was unethical. Dr Green also knew this in 1973 because he was to have been
associated with Professor Cochrane in conducting that trial. Yet the same statement that
appeared in Dr Green's 1973 memorandum was repeated in his evidence to me before
this Inquiry. This is one occasion when I cannot accept that there was an oversight or
memory loss on Dr Green's part.

Dr McLean’s comment should have been pursued in order that the ethicality of the

Cochranetrial, so similar to the 1966 Proposal, could be evaluated. If the Hospital Med-

ical Committee or the Auckland Hospital Board had confirmed that the British Medical

Research Council considered the Cochrane trial unethical, the scientific validity of the

1966 trial would have appeared far more questionable.

4. Incommenting on Dr McLean’s memorandum, Dr Green wrote:
“Inany case, the present population and pathological data do not suggest that
any reappraisalof the presentmanagement, possibly towards the aggressive,
ablative attitude seen in some North American centres, will do anything to
lower incidence, morbidity, and mortality from cervical cancerin either Auck-
land province cr New Zealand. SirRichard Doll has recently supported me
in this opinion.”

L agree with Dr McIndoe’s comment in his reply when he said:
“Itis difficult tc follow in the above what Doll has recently supported.
“There is muchtobe gained by ‘reappraisal of the present management’ ex-
cepting that this should be expanded to the ‘present diagnostic steps and
management’. Exclusion of invasive carcinoma at the outset by more adequate
biopsy and further investigation of the continuing positive smear [Patient
code6N1]and abnormal colposcopy findings is clearly required as advocat-
edby Kolstad (1970) and the other authors referred to by Associate Professor
Green in his November 7 memorandum.
“The suggestion of an ‘aggressive, ablative attitude’ as the only alternative to
adequate diagnostic steps is hardly appropriate.”

82



EXPRESSIONS OF CONCERN

In that final sentence Dr McIndoe pinpoints the confusion in Dr Green’s comments.
Althoughhe had said that the study was designed “to find out something of the natural
history of carcinoma in situ, and to avoid unnecessarily radical treatment of young wom-
en with lesions merely suspected to be cancer”, there was no need to begin a study of non-
treatment as a means of moving to more conservative management. National Women’s
Hospital policy was in line with much of the rest of the world. It was already treating by
conebiopsy in the 1960s. The 1966 trial was not amove from hysterectomy to cone biop-
sy. Itinvolved monitoring positive smears along with under-treatment or no treatment
atall.

Inaccordance with Dr Moody's suggestion to Dr Warren, both Drs McIndoe and McLean
were given the right of reply to Dr Green’s memorandum. I do not set these out in full
in the textbuthave appended them, again excluding references to particular cases (Ap-
pendices 5 & 6).

Although the memoranda from Drs McIndoe and McLean and Dr Green’s response were
never specifically mentioned in the HMC Minutes, Dr Warren referred the issucs aris-
ing out of them to the Committee.

The first references in the Minutes to these written concerns put to the Medical
Superintendent-in-Chief and the Medical Superintendent are somewhat oblique. In July
1974 Mr Faris moved “that a sub-committee.. enquire into all aspecss of the diagnosis and
treatment of both cancer and pre-malignant conditions.. within National Women's
Hospital”. Although those present felt “some doubt as to what exactly Mr Faris had in
mind”, the matter was discussed and various names suggested for inclusionin the sub-
committee: Professor Bonham, MrKyle, Associate Professor Green and Associate Profes-
sor Seddon.

The nexttime the subject was discussed, evenindirectly, ProfessorBonhamisrecorded
(October 1974) as having discussed with Dr Warren the formation of
“small groups to look at specific projects and problems with the object of
providing reports for discussion by the Hospital Medical Committee. These
reports would be concerned with such matters as the management of carci-
noma of the vulva, carcinomaof the ovary, chemotherapy etc, and alterations
to the building...”

In December 1974 aworking group comprising Mr Macfarlane (convenor), MrKyle and
Associate Professor Seddon was recommended. Its task was “to look at the case notes
of certain specified cases to assess whether or not they were managed in accordance with
the accepted Hospital practice pertaining at the time”, When he was first approached,
Mr Kyle wrote back to the Medical Superintendent:

“Asyouare aware, | and many others, have, rightly no doubt, been excluded

fromall contact with Ca. [cancer] cases for atermin the regior: of 20 years and

my association with, and knowledge of the situation, is minimal as aresult.

“As I believe medical progress throughout the centuries has been impeded
by people making decisions about subjects on which they know nothing, I
beg to decline the opportunity to serve on the Committee in question. Ifeel,
further, that if any aspect of this problem is in the nature of a critical assess-
ment of individuals past performances in thisfield, such decisions should be
made by people who have been accorded seniority by the Beard in the past.
Therethenwould beless, if any, criticism of the ultimate decision....” (HMC
Minutes March, 1975)

The same Minutes record aletter to the Medical Superintendent dated 8 January, 1975,

which states:
“Inordertoresolve the uneasiness which has arisen with the establishment
of these committees, the terms of reference under which they will function
should be known to all members of the senior staff”
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In spite of being asked again to join the working group, DrKyle declined once more in
writing in 1975.
“.. The terms of reference of this Committee are now stated as to look at the
case notes of certain specified cases to assess whether or not they were
managed in accordance with the accepted hospital practice pertaining at the
time,

“Ibelieve that some of the more controversial of these cases are those show-
ing microinvasion and as, in my 25 years in association with this hospital, 1
amunaware of any directive relating to this particular type of case, I feel that
the committee will be unable to act within the terms of reference.

“Furthermore Ifeel that itis most inappropriate that this matter should be ad-
judicated upon by members of this hospital staff because of personalities and
the fact that local staff have had along time in which to prejudge the issue.

“While it may be uneconomic of time and money, I feel that this problem
wouldbe better assessed by a Gynaecologist, Pathologistand Oncologist from
some other institution.

“Alternatively I feel that the present terms of reference of the local commit-
tee should be waived and a suitably qualified committee decide on working
procedures for such cases in the future, calling upon thelessons of the past
where appropriate.”

When he gave evidence, MrKyle said thatin using the word ‘personalities’ he meant that
the three doctors in dispute knew each other. His letter contained some sensibleideas.

1) Headvocated specialists independent of the Hospital as the appropriate people to
resolve the dispute.

2) By suggestingthat the “present terms of reference of the local committee should be
waived”, he was, I believe, making the point that the proposed terms of reference
would not answer the problem which had arisen.

3) Hesuggested thatatreatment protocol be developed for the management of future
cases.

The wisdomof these suggestions is proved by the existence of the current Inquiry, held
12 yearslater, and at a far greater cost in time and money than Mr Kyle would ever have
contemplated. In the event, his recommendations were not adopted.

Ultimately, Mr Macfarlane, Mr Faris and Associate Professor Seddon formed the Working
Party. Mr Macfarlane is now dead and neither of the other members could recall when
giving evidence by what process they selected the patients’ files they finally studied. It
does appear likely, however, that the 29 cases referred to the Working Party were those
attached to DrMcIndoe’s memorandum of 14 December 1973, writteninresponse toDr
Greensreply to the two October memoranda sent to Dr Warren. The copy inthe Hospi-
tal’s files has been divided into three groups and Mr Macfarlane’s, Associate Professor
Seddon’s and Mr Faris’s names each written against a section.

When the Working Party eventually reported, it was on 14 cases only and one of these
was not assessed in detail. The exclusion of the other 15 was not explained by Mr Faris
or Professor Seddon. Neither of them could recall why more than half the cases on the
list had not been considered. I can only conclude that the review of those 29 cases was
perfunctory if 15 were omitted altogether without some recorded reasons for theijr
omission.

The Working Party’s Report
It was not until 16 October 1975, two years after the original memoranda were for-
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warded to the Medical Superintendent, that the Working Party reported to the Hospi-
tal Medical Committee. Given the clarity with which DrMcIndoe and Dr McLean stat-
ed their concerns about the risks to patients implicit in the 1966 trjal, the Working Party’s
Report was extraordinary. It is appropriate to set out the Report in full.

“Report of Committee of Inquiry into cases of Carcinoma in Situ:

Introduction:

On the 20June 1966, following a discussion by the Senior Medical Staff, the
Hospital Medical Committee considered and agreed to proposals involving
the supervision and management of certain patients showing positive smears
of the cervix uteri.

The proposals were put forward by Professor Green and read as follows:
[Here the Committee sets out in full the 1966 Proposal]
“Professor Green also stated that ‘If at any stage concern was felt for the safe-
ty of a patient, acone biopsy would be performed. Inresponse to certain ap-
parent misgivings voiced by some staff members a committee comprising the
undersigned was appointed to consider whether the above policy has been

adhered to.

“The concernexpressed involved the citing of some 14 cases whose case notes
have been referred to us (the Committee) and these we have studied in de-
tail. An overalllist of some 29 cases was originally presented to us. This includ-
ed the 14 cases mentioned but investigation of the remaining 15 cases revealed
that they did not apply to this inquiry.

“Inthe absence of our having been given specific terms of reference, we con-
sider that our role has been to determine —

a) Whether the agreed policy has been followed in eachindividual casc.

b) Whether invasive cancer was subsequently diagnosed.

c) Comment on problems encountered in implementing the agreed
policy.

“Insummary, the results of our considerations of the cases in question ana-
lysed under these three headings is listed in Appendix 1.

Comments:

1) Of the 14 cases cited, one [Patient code 9G] was not assessed in de-
tail because she came under supervision 5 years before the policy be-
ing considered was agreed to.

2) Of the 13 remaining cases who came under supervision after 1966,
only 3[Patient codes 6H, 7 J, 6Z] were under the age of 35 years at the
time of presentation.

3) The Committee considers that in 12 of the 13 pertinent cases the
agreed policy was followed.

4) Inthe 13 cited cases managed by the agreed conservative policy, in-
vasive carcinoma was subsequently diagnosed.

5) Deathresulting from the development of overt cancer occurred in one
patient. The 12 other cases diagnosed ashaving invasive cancer in this
series are at present alive and well with the exception of [Patient code
1F] who was killed in a motor accident 4 years after treatment.

6) Attentionis drawn tothe policy statement — ‘If at any stage concern
was felt for the safety of the patient a cone biopsy would be per-
formed. The Committee notes that this statement does not define
whose concernis operative. It isnot clear by statement or implication
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whether such concern should be shared by the majority or be the
prerogative of any individual member of the team invoived in the
management of the patient.
This deficiency in the policy agreement is seen by the committee as
apotential (?realised) source of disquiet between staff members.

7) Asecond fundamental difficulty in the implementation of the policy
concerns the action to be taken on a histopathology report stating
‘carcinoma in situ with a query invasive lesion nearby’. The reluc-
tance of a clinician to act on such areport in the absence of clinical
or colposcopic evidence of invasive cancer has been associated with
intervals of up to 3% years before definitive treatment was in-
stituted.
The Committee suggests that all cases within the last 10 years hav-
ing suchahistopathology report be assessed to determine in what
proportion of cases the original suspicion was confirmed. Without
such information action on future similar cases is likely toresultin
a) unnecessary cone biopsies OR b) unnecessary delays.

8) The Committee was concerned that in the case of [Patient Code 1F)

delay may be said tohave occurred as a result of inaccurate uncon-
tirmed pathology reporting by amember of the junior medical staff,

9N Itis notwithin the terms of reference of the committee to comment
on the outcome of the clinical trial to which the agreed policy
applies.

10) The Committee considers that it is regrettable that differences of

professional opinion held by senior staff members have been al-
lowed to result in conflicts which have had to come to arbitration.

It is the firm opinion of this committee that all staff members in-
volved in theimplementation of the policy concerned with the con-
servative management of carcinoma-in-situ of the cervix have acted
with personal and professional integrity. It is further considered
that the effective continuation of this trial depends upon:

1) The staff members concerned subjugating personality differ-
ences in the interests of scientific enquiry — and

2) Theinitial policy be clarified, inaccordance with the following

recommendations:

a) Define whose concern for the safety of the patient s to be
acted upon.

b} Assess the numerical significance in this trial of
histopathology reports stating '? invasive lesion nearby’.

¢) Pathology reporting on cervical biopsy material must be
made or confirmed by a senior histopathologist.

d) Restate the agelimits of the patients for inclusion in the trial
(committee members had differing interpretations of the
present policy statement).

Signed: Alastair Macfarlane, R ] Seddon, Bruce Faris. 18.9.75”
Itisnot possible tolet this Report pass without making some comments on its content.

1. The Working Party largely developed its own terms of reference, yet in paragraph 9
of the Report it said:

“Itis not within the terms of reference of the committee to comment on the outcome
of the clinical trial to which the agreed policy applies”
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Itisastounding and of grave concern that the Committee, knowing of “certain apparent
misgivings voiced by some staff members”, chose to avoid the centralissue: were patients
at risk of developing invasive cancer, or having the diagnosis of invasive cancer delayed,
as a result of the 1966 Proposal?

2. Of the cases actually reviewed in detail, the Report found:

“4) Inthe13cited cases managed by the agreed conservative policy, invasive carci-
noma was subsequently diagnosed.”

Yet the Working Party did not express any sense of alarm. It appears thatas only one death
hadoccurred fromthe development of overt cancer and the other 12 cases were still “alive
and well, with the exception of [Patient code 1F] who was killed in a motor accident 4 years
after treatment”, there was no cause for concern.

3. Ratherthaninvestigating why Dr McLean chose to report ‘carcinoma in situ with a
?invasivelesion nearby’, the Working Party simply concluded that a histopathological
reportof that nature might result in the future in “a) unnecessary cone biopsies OR
b) unnecessary delays”.

DrMclLean told methathe had notbeen asked about this type of histopathological report
atthe time. Ifhe had been, he could have explained his reason for reporting in that way.
In his evidence, he said:

“I'was aware that Green was excising only part of the lesion in selected cases

of CIS and I thought it appropriate to give warning of the possibility of amore

severelesion. The obvious thing to do in my opinion was to do another biop-

sy if there was any doubt.

“Occult invasive carcinomas are not recognisable clinically. Why did a clini-
cian with doubts about this form of diagnosis not discuss this question with
me? No members of this Inquiry Committee “The Working Farty’ discussed
this matter with me.”

The Working Party did not understand that this type of report by Dr McLean was a warn-
ing to Dr Green of the danger of invasive cancer.

4. “Ttis further considered that the effect of continuation of this trial depends upon:
1) The Staff members concerned subjugating personality differences in the interests
of scientific inquiry....”

Against the background of debate on the 1966 trial and with the memoranda exchanged

between Drs McIndoe, McLean and Greenknown to the Working Party, it was extremely

naive to express the hope that senior staff members would work together better in the
future.

5. Perhaps most important and disturbing of all, it does not appear that the Working
Party critically assessed the potential risks to patients in the 1966 trial. It seems to me
that those risks were considered secondary to scientific inquiry.

Thave four principal concerns arising out of the Working Party’s Report.

1. There wasnoexplanationincluded about those 15 patients whose files were excluded
from the Report.

2. Therewas no stated indication of concern when investigation of the remaining 14 dis-
closed that 13 had developed invasive cancer. No concern was expressed at the fact
that one death had already occurred. Norany concern for other patients who were
being managed in the same way and who may have been at risk from invasive cancer.

3. Although the Working Party had been givenabrief against which to consider the 1966
trial, itlargely developed its own terms of reference. In adhering rigidly to its large-
ly self-imposed terms of reference, it avoided the real reason for the requested
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review. Inview of the serious concerns raised by two of the Hospital’s specialist staff,
I'would have expected the Working Party to review the 1966 trial and the Hospital
Medical Committee to ensure that this was done. In fact, the Working Party did not
evenreview all the patients’ notes passed to it and certainly did not attempt anything
more than a superficial evaluation of the trial.

4. TheHMCand theWorking Party should have been thinking of the patients’ safety;
instead they preferred to follow the time-honoured tradition of confusing etiquette
with ethics in attempting to repair the relationships which had deteriorated in the
Hospital as the result of the 1966 Proposal and its consequences for patients.

Conclusions: The instigation of the Working Party’s review was the best opportunity the
medical staff at National Women's Hospital had to confront the problems which sur-
rounded the 1966 trial and exercise a genuine form of internal peerreview. Itisapparent
that, rightfrom the beginning, in their self-limiting terms of reference, they choseinstead
toavoid therealissue. If they had approached theirtask differently, orif DrKyle's recom-
mendations had been acted upon, I do not believe this Inquiry would have been neces-
sary.

COLPOSCOPIC SERVICES

Long before the Working Party was established, Dr McIndoe appears to have taken
anotherkind of action. Inaletter of 25 June 1974 to the Medical Superintendent, Dr Green
wrote:
“....Isuggest that Dr McIndoe’s position relative to D Team [Green'’s clinical
team] and the Colposcopy Clinic needs to be clarified. He continues to appear
ontheroster forfour D Team sessions weekly but has notattended any of these
since September 1973. Although he appears on the official staff list onlyasa
part-time visiting Obstetrician and Gynaecologist for Colposcopy he con-
tinues to solicit and receive reference patients directly without these going
through the obstetrical and gynaecological staff members.

“Inow have details of some ten cases which Dr McIndoe has handled in ex-
actlythesame mannerthathe apparently found soreprehensible in me and
willlet you and the staff have details of these cases whenever you like”

Inretrospect, andknowing the events of the yearsbetweenJune 1966 and September 1973,
Ibelieve that Dr McIndoe had decided to avoid assisting Dr Green any further because
he was concerned about the implications of the 1966 trial. This form of indirect protest
isinkeeping with thekind of person he was. Icanonly presume that he thought his non-
appearance at clinic and the withdrawal of his services lo Dr Green would lead other
clinicians or the Hospital’s administration to ask why he was not doing hisjob. It seems
extraordinary that, as far as I can ascertain, no such investigation occurred with a sub-
sequent review of Dr Green’s management of patients.

In fact, the consequence of DrMcIndoe's non-appearance atD team sessions was benefi-
cial to the patients. When he declined to assist Dr Green any further with colposcopic
examinations, Dr Green reverted to performing cone biopsies in most new cases, This
outcome may also have been another reason for Dr McIndoe's action.,

THE INTERNATIONAL DEBATE

As this Inquiry proceeded, it became apparent that what had begun as a small domes-
ticdispute inahospital in Auckland, had come to have ramifications in other partsofthe
world. DrGreen’s work, particularly as recorded in his scientific papers, was well-known
in the international community of gynaecologists. Many of these eminent gynaecolo-
gists werealso aware of the world-wide debate surrounding Dr Green's work. Allof them
knew of his scientific papers and some had heard him speak.
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DrJordan told me:
“Thave personally known of this work for many years. Infact, in 1971 Profes-
sor Green visited the Department in Birmingham in which I worked. The
Head of that Department, Professor Hugh McLaren, was responsible for in-
troducing cytology into the UK and was a vociforous supporter of cytology
screening programmes from 1952.

“He had been involved with the treatment of patients found to have positive
cytology from 1952 and was very distressed at the trial which was being con-
ducted in New Zealand. He decided to hold a debate between himself and
Professor Green. This took the form of an internal meeting within the Depart-
ment, but present were those who were working in the fields of clinical gy-
naecology, cytology and pathology.

“It was as a result of helping Professor McLaren prepare his material and
listening to Professor Green that I realised for the first time the true sig-
nificance of the work which was being carried out in Auckland. Professor
Green was adamant that what he was doing was an acceptable approach but
was also aware that he was receiving worldwide criticism for his work.

“In fairness to him, he has always written about his work and nothing has
been kept secret from other workers in the field.”

Professor Kolstad had the opportunity to comment during a visit to National Women'’s
Hospital. He came to New Zealand in 1973 at the invitation of Dr McIndoe:
“He [DrMcIndoe] was at that time extremely worried about the experiment
Green had started in 1966. Time has shown beyond doubt that Dr McIndoe
and Dr McLean were completely correct in their often spoken out concern.
Dr Green hascertainly proved that his fanatic belief that CIS is a harmless dis-
ease Is a severe mistake.”

During that visit Professor Kolstad, together with Dr Green and Dr McIndoe, examined
six patients with carcinomain situ. Professor Kolstad advised them that they should ex-
cise the complete lesion. In his view the most effective method was conization. Profes-
sor Kolstad said:
“Dr Green did not agree with me and he wanted only to follow the patients
withoutany treatment. One special case had carcinomain situ far down into
the vaginaand in this case Irecommended treatment with vaginal radium ir-
radiation. Also this case Dr Green would only observe.”

In fact, Professor Kolstad disagreed with the management of all six patients and recalled
telling Dr Green that he was “experimenting with these patients, something like that.
Icannotrecall exactly the phrasing of it.”” When asked how strongly he put that criticism
and how much he tried to persuade Dr Green, he said:

“I'think thatI, at that time, was not aware of to what large extent he was do-

ing this in the Hospital. So after I had explained my distress. . .that he didn’t

treat these patients that all had in situ, and perhaps especially the patient with

insitufardownin the vagina, Ididn’t want to discuss it over and over again.”

Professor Kolstad now believes that Dr McIndoe invited him to Auckland “to try to tell
Dr Green that he ought to stop this sort of study”.

Professor Richart, Dr Jordan, Dr Pixley and Professor Kolstad each reviewed a small sam-
ple of files of women included in the 1966 trial while they were in New Zealand for this
Inquiry. Despite their familiarity with Dr Green’s published papers on the trial and earlier
discussions with him, I do not believe that any of them realised the seriousness of the
problem until then. All of them displayed concern and even anguish at the consequences
for the patients included in the 1966 trial.
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Professor Kolstad, aman of robust views, described the treatment of one patient included
inthetrial as “another example of terrifying mismanagement of carcinoma in situin a rela-
tively young patient”. His summary of the treatment for another patient who had also
been part of the 1966 trial and who died in July 1976, illustrates the depth of feeling gener-
ated amongst these specialists. On admission in May 1966, a colposcopic examination
“...showed a significant finding and a punch biopsy disclosed carcinomain
situ. A smear at that time showed cells suggestive of, but not conclusive for
malignancy. She was followed with frequent colposcopic examinations and
smears... This diagnosis was repeated up to 1973, when the smears showed
cells strongly suggestive of malignancy.”

Eventually this patient was treated with radiotherapy after a diagnosis of arare, clear cell
carcinoma which is more malignant than squamous cell carcinoma. Professor Kolstad
said:
“Only two months after radiotherapy the patient started to complain about
sciatic pain, indicating spread to the pelvic wall. This painincreased tremen-
dously during the next month and she had to be admitted for pain relief.

“Shediedin July 1976. If you had treated patients with this special type of pain
because of lymph node metastases of the pelvic wall, you will know that it is
absolutely unbelievable how much they suffer. The handling of this patient
must also be classed as severe mismanagement.”

Telling comment onDr Green’shypothesis appeared in medical journals worldwide in
the decade following approval of the 1966 Proposal. In 1970 ‘The Natural History of Cer-
vical Carcinomain Situ’, a paper by Dr Green and ] W Donovan, was published.' It was
the subject of editorial comment in Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey.? The editor
wrote:

“Ishall raise only one question and make one comment, for the issues were

thoroughly discussed by Hugh Davis in his comment on a somewhat simi-

lar presentation by Ashley a couple of years ago....

“Question: How certainare the authors that their patients are indeed free from
invasive cancer? After conization, the presence of invasive cancer or indeed
intraepithelial canceris very difficult to ascertain by clinical methods. Insome
of the New Zealand women, who have had persistent biopsies of in-
traepithelial cancer, and one patient had three such biopsies over a period of
9years, might notinvasive cancerindeed be presentif the entire cervix were
available for study?

“Comment: Itis assumed in the discussions above and so stated in the com-
plete article that the initial treatment has not altered the course of the disease.
How often have you beenimpressed by the changein gross appeatrance of the
cervix after having taken a simple punch biopsy? It seems to me that many
times I have been amazed by the healing process initiated by simply taking
apunch biopsy for many times after a period of five or sixweeks the cervix ap-
pears entirely different than it did when the biopsy was taken. The authors
teport five patients who seemed to have had their entire intraepithelial lesion
removed by biopsy. Other authors have reported the same thing. It has always
seemed to me that the question is not whether the biopsy could have fortui-
tously removed the entire lesion but whether the biopsy initiated areaction
inthe healing process which resulted in the rejection of tissue which after all
isabnormal and presumably biologically handicapped. Ascanbe seen, Thave
serious doubts that one can assume that the natural history of intraepitheli-
al carcinoma of the cervix is not seriously altered by therapy, inadequate
though it may be.”
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This writer was raising a quite different objection to those already mentioned. Heis sug-
gesting thatastudy of the natural history of the disease may well be compromised once
a biopsy for diagnosis has been performed.

Dr Creen’s hypothesis also received other kinds of editorial comment. Another paper
written by Dr Green for publication in the 1970 edition of the Australian and New Zealand
Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology was given an auxiliary heading, ‘An Atypical
Viewpoint'.
Professor Kolstad, in his evidence, referred to a textbook on gynaecological oncology pub-
lished in 1972 from M D Andersen Hospital, Houston, where Boronow discussed cur-
rentconcepts of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Boronow stated that published data
accumulated up until that time suggested that from 10 to 15 to 60 per cent or more cases
would develop into invasive cancer. Boronow then said:

“Two relevant questions must be asked regarding such data:

a) How long are the patients followed?

b) ITow was the diagnosis established?”

He went onto say:
“The controversial views of Green implies that few if any in situ cancers ac-
tually becomeinvasive. His reports are provocative but are at present accepted
by only a few authorities.”

During his evidence Dr Green was at pains to explain that scientific knowledge cannot
be advanced without debate and that on occasions he intended to be provocative in his
papers. Dr Green’s colleagues apparently realised that Dr Green held a minority view.
In his evidence, Mr Faris said that in 1972 and 1973

“We had the feeling that Professor Green might well have a minority view. He

may still be right.”

While the comments made in textbooks and journals like these are directed more at the
minority nature of Dr Green's views, nonetheless they were also expressions of concern
about the validity of his trial. They ought to have been considered by him or by his col-
leagues when the Working Party was formed to review the 1966 trial.

THE 1984 AND 1986 PAPERS

In1974 Dr Green wrote up his trial for the last time in the paper, "The Progression of Prein-
vasive Lesions of the Cervix to Invasion” The summary to that paper states:
“Inan effort to elucidate the problem of whether and how often the so-called
precursors of cervical cancer do progress to invasion, some New Zealand data
are presenied. These consisl of cervical cancer incidence and mortality figures
for the Auckland Provincial area, 1946-1972, and for New Zealand, 1948-1970;
these are contrasted with similar data from British Columbia.

“Allowing for the uncertainties inherentin the population approach to such
problems, the data donot suggest that the removal of large numbers of in situ
cancers from the population has favourably influenced incidence and mor-
tality rates, and it is therefore concluded that the concept of progression of
epithelial changes through a spectrum toinvasion is doubtful. The results of
management of a series of 750 cases of in situ cancer in which 10 or 1.3 per-
cent of the total cases apparently progressed toinvasion, butof which 10 cases
there were only two in which there was no clinical or histologic doubt about
the progression, suggests that the proportion progressing to invasion must
be small and is unlikely to influence favourably incidence and mortality rates.

“Itis considered doubtful that present population or pathological data will
ever solve the problem completely and some other approachestoits solution
are briefly mentioned.”
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Until that time Dr Green had published readily on the data emerging from the trial. He
was asked:
“Dr Green, the 194 paper you published didn't give the final outcome of your
studies on CIS did it?”

Answer: No.

Question: Canyou tell me why you didn’t publish the final outcome of your
studies?

Answer: Yes, I can tell you that because I realised that it couldn’t be carried
on like that without a colposcopist and so I resorted to cone biopsies, early
cone biopsy in almost every case that  had to deal with, And then I became
aware after 1975, I was away in 1975 and 1976, that Dr McIndoe was going to
write these up because he [was] always down in the Cancer Clinic getting
records; and I knew from what Miss Owen had told me that he was writing
them all up and so I imagined that he could do it very well.

Question: Andyou don't yourself have any unpublished figures or writings
on the final outcome which are not before the Commission?

Answer: No, no.

Sofar aslam aware Dr Green did not take any steps himself to prevent Dr McIndoe and
his co-authors reviewing and writing up the results of the 1966 trial and the patients he
managed. Professor Bonham, however, was not prepared to tolerate a review by Dr McIn-
doe. On 16 November 1982 he wrote the following letter to the then Medical Superinten-
dent of National Women's Hospital:

“Follow-up of Carcinoma in Situ Cases.

Thave heard arumour that DrMcIndoe and possibly another specialist, have

been reviewing cases of carcinoma in situ that have been managed in the

Hospital. [ have no recollection of approval being given for areview of in situ

cases belonging to other consultants and I wonder if they have been review-

ing cases by courtesy of Miss Owen [a senior and respected consultation clinic

clerk], without the approval of the clinicians concerned.

“This may only be arumour, butI think it may be worthwhile your having a
look at it in the first instance because any publication emanating from this
Hospital must be acceptable to the staff of the Hospital before it is submitted
for publication, as I am sure you will agree.”

Thisletter shows only too clearly that after all the years spent trying to draw attention to
the dangersinherent in the trial, DrMcIndoe was stillexperiencing real difficulties in get-
ting anyone at the Hospital tolisten to and consider his concerns. Professor Bonham said
in his evidence that “it is normally an ethic of the profession if you are going to write up
other people’s cases to get their approval”.

Tagree that this usually is a matter of professional courtesy but 1 also believe that Dr McIn-
doehad gone beyond the point where such niceties matter. All his previous efforts had
had no effect. [ suspect that it was in desperation that he finally decided to write up the
trial and its results for international publication.

When Professor Bonham's letter was put to the Dean of the School of Medicine, Profes-
sor Cole, he was obliged to disagree with the proposition that:

"A publication emanating from this Hospital must be acceptable to the staff

of the Hospital before it is submitted

He said:

“It must stand the external appraisal and that it is clearly not nonsense or
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seriously controversial, or damaging confidence, or in patients’ names and
things, butldon’t believe that any scientist or any person in the area would
condone a form of internal censorship.

“What often happens, I might say, is that a Head of Department sees as his
responsibility to hone down and to smarten up if you like, and generally com-
pressapaperthat has been submitted and agood Head of Department, and
I'have watched them doing this, will work hard on a paper. His name may not
beonit, buthe sees it as his responsibility to get that paper into the best pos-
sible shape...to give assistancc. Because it becomes in effect,...from his
department or her department, it becomes part of the credibility of that
department, But thatis alittle different from saying that it has to be approved
and I don't believe that that would normally apply.”

Although Professor Bonham as Chairman of the Ethical Committee and Head of Depart-
ment disapproved of the work undertaken by the authors, Dr Jones explained why he
accepted DrMcIndoe’s and Dr McLean's suggestion that he should assist them in writ-
ing the paper:

“Quite simply, this material was inmy view the most important modern evi-

dence which substantiated the earlier view regarding the invasive potential

of the precursor lesions (carcinoma in situ).

“There had already been anumber of papers published on the subject from
the National Women’s Hospital, some indicating that carcinoma in situ of the
cervix had a relatively unimportant invasive potential and others which
doubted the value of mass cervical cytology screening.

“Iaking these facts into account, I believe that it would have been morally
wrong not to publish the material in amajor international journal. Although
theresults presented in the 1984 Paper have come under microscopic exami-
nation during this Inquiry, they state nothing more than the views held by the
rest of the gynaecologists in this country and overseas.

“I'was also encouraged by the views expressed by Professor Mattingly, the edi-
tor of ‘Obstetrics and Gynaecology’...”

Dr Jones quoted from a letter addressed by Professor Mattingly to Dr McIndoe. An ex-
cerpt from the letter read:
“lam sure you know how important this information is to the field of gynaeco-
logical oncology and how imperative tis to have this data published as a mat-
ter of scientific record. Without publication of your article, this experiment
of nature will remain buried in the files of the National Women’s Hospital.

“WhileIfully understand the medical politics involved in collecting the data,
[cannotemphasise enough the importance thatIand others place upon this
singular study.”

The paper was ultimately published in the prestigious journal of the American College
of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. * Its authors were William A McIndoe, MD, Malcolm
R McLean, MD, Ronald W Jones, MD, and Peter R Mullins, MSc. The Abstract stated:

“Nine hundred and forty eight patients with carcinomain situ (CIS) of the cer-
vix diagnosed histologically have been followed from 5 to 28 years. Among
the 817 patients who have had normal cytology follow-up, 12 (1.5%) deve-
loped invasive carcinoma. A second group of 131 patients continued to
produce abnormal cytology consistent with cervical neoplasia, and 29 (22%)
of them, developed invasive carcinoma of the cervix or vaginal vault.

“Patients with continuing abnormal cytology after initial management of CIS
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of the cervix are 24.8 times more likely to develop invasive carcinoma than
women who have normalfollow-up cytology. Further, when compared with
the populationatlarge, the chances of patients with normal follow-up cytol-
ogy developing invasive cervical or vaginal vault carcinomaincrease 3.2-fold
over women who have never had CIS of the cervix.”

The paper concludes:
“The present study clearly demonstrates that CIS of the cervix had a signifi-
cantinvasive potential.” (The full text of the paper is to be found in Appendix
7.)

The 1984 paper even today, represents one of the largest surveys of the invasive poten-
tial of CIS, both in terms of the numbers of patients involved and years of observation.
By the time it was published three of the authors had already presented the material pub-
licly at medical conferences in New Zealand, the United States, Australiaand Japan, be-
tween 1976 and 1984.

Although the conclusions reached in the 1984 paper were widely disseminated, there
was 1o noticeable reaction at National Women’s Hospital from the HMC, the Ethical
Committee or the Medical Superintendent. The Royal NZ College of Obstetricians and
Gynaecologists took no steps to ensure that patients whohad beenincluded inthe study
were not at risk of developing invasive cancer.

Drs Jones and McLean published afurther paper in the same journal in 1986. It was en-
titled ‘Carcinoma in Situ of the Vulva: A Review of Thirty Treated and Five Untreated
Cases’.® The Abstract said:
36 patients with carcinomain situ of the vulva have been followed from 2-23
years. Among 31 patients managed by surgical excision, there were 4 recur-
rences of vulvar carcinoma in situ and 1 patient developed a vulvar carcino-
ma 17 years later.

“4 middle-aged and elderly women managed only by biopsy all progressed
toinvasive vulva cancerin 2-8 years; 1 additional patient progressed toinva-
sion after inadequate primary treatment. These last 5 cases all represented
multi-focallower genital tract neoplasia. Untreated vulvar carcinomainsitu,
when seen as part of amultifocal lower genital tract neoplastic process, inmid-
dle and later life is likely to progress to invasion.”

By the time this paper was published all five women whose disease had progressed to
invasion had died. (A full copy of the paper is found in Appendix 8.)

THE ARTICLE IN ‘METRO’ MAGAZINE

It was the publication of the 1984 paper in the journal of the American College of Ob-
stetrics and Gynecology that prompted the article’An “Unfortunate Experiment” at Na-
tional Women's’. One of the co-authors had read the paper by McIndoe, McLean, Jones
and Mullins. The writers’ research and preparatory work involved letters to and inter-
views with a wide range of experts in the field of gynaecological malignancy, screening
for cervical cancer and ethics of medical research, and teachers of obstetrics and gynae-
cology. The resulting article was published in the June 1987 issue of ‘Metro, a monthly
magazine published in Auckland and with a national circulation.

Theauthors, Sandra Coney and Phillida Bunkle, were parties to the current Inquiry. San-
draConey gave evidence on theirbehalf and subsequently onbehalf of Fertility Action,
awomen'’s health pressure group. Sheis an Auckland freelance journalist and a former
editor of ‘Broadsheet’. Phillida Bunkle is a Wellington academic. At that time she was
senior lecturer in Women's Studies at Victoria University.
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The significance of the magazine article was notlost on the Auckland Hospital Board.
Amemorandum from the Superintendent-in-Chief, Dr Leslie Honeyman, recommend-
ed that the Board pass aresolution requesting the Minister of Health to establish an In-
quiry under Section 13 (3) of the Hospitals Act 1957, Dr Honeyman summarised the issues
of particular concern to the Board and divided them into two parts:

sk

ethical issues concerned with informed consent to treatment, the conduct
of clinical research and other matters.

* historical matters relating to a particular group of patients, from 1966
onwards!”

Herecommended that “full investigation, both of the historical origins of these concerns
and of present day practice and procedureis required, and...Idonot think that it is desira-
ble that this Board continue with its own investigation of the matter, but rather that an
inquiry be madeby outside independent personor persons”. Two dayslater, on 10 June
1987, this Committee of Inquiry was announced.

The magazine article had already become the subject of intense public comment. It was
predictable, therefore, that it would be carefully scrutinised and much criticised by some
of the witnesses who gave evidence before me. The most sustained criticism came from
Dr Green. Professor Bonham was also worried about some of the statements made in the
article.

Was the magazine article accurate?

During the course of the hearing the original manuscript submitted to the magazine was
produced and editorial changes made in the course of preparing the article for publica-
tion were explained. There were anumber of errors in the article finally published in the
magazine. Most were of minor import or caused by editorial changes. However, with the
exception of matters to which Iwill refer specifically, the factual basis for the article and
its emphasis have proved to be correct. It was an extensively researched and profession-
ally written piece. It displayed an understanding of the condition of carcinoma in situ of
the genital tract and invasive cancer that few lay people could hope to achieve.

1. Significant editorial changes

The matter of accuracy was raised first by the authors themselves. In herevidence San-
dra Coney drew attention to two editing changes which she considered substantially al-
tered the meaning of sentences in the magazine article.

(a) “Twelveof thetotal number of women had died from invasive cancer as had
four, or 0.5%, of the group-one women, and eight, or 6% of the group-two
women who had limited or no treatment.”

In the original manuscript the authors had written:
“Twelve of the total number of women died from invasive carcinoma. Four
(0.5%) of the Group-one women, and eight (6%) of the Group-two women
who had limited or no treatment. Thus the women in the limited treatment
group were twelve times more likely to die as the fully treated group.”

Taccept that the unedited material more accurately reflects the findings of the 1984 McIn-
doe paper. The edited version is not accurate.
(b) Inthe original manuscript the authors wrote:
“While in many countries it may not be necessary toreviewthe evidence, says
Skegg, in New Zealand it was....” (my emphasis)
The edited article stated:
“While in many countries such a programme might not be necessary, says
Skegg, in New Zealand it was...”
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Again, the change of words, in particular ‘programme’ instead of ‘evidence, markedly
alters the assertion made by the authors and, through them, Professor Skegg.

2.  “Butthere was no intention to cure them”

There was one matter about which Dr Green was understandably extremely concerned.
In the article it was said that:
“Some women with evidence of disease were to be left. They would be fol-
lowed — thatis, brought back for regular smears and possibly more biopsies
— but there was no intention to cure them.”

For any doctor tobe told that he had no intentionto cure a patient would strike at the foun-
dation of his professional and personal values. Infact, I do notaccept that Dr Green had
no intention to cure his patients. During the course of the Inquiry there was no serious
suggestion that he had anything other than a benevolent attitude towards his patients.
Insomeareas, particularly the treatment of women withinvasive cervical cancer, he was

highly regarded.

Thereis, however, a difference between the overall intention to cure a patientand ade-
cision not to treat a particular condition. It was, and I believe still is, Dr Green’s view that
ClSisessentially abenign condition. If agynaecologist holds this view, then thereis no
purpose intreating the lesion. Indeed to do so might be to subject a woman to surgical
procedures unnecessarily. By the time he was interviewed for the magazine article, Dr
Green's view was that about 5 per cent of the lesions diagnosed as CIS might progress
to invasion. It was clearly his thesis that it is preferable to achieve an early diagnosis of
invasive cancer and treat that, than to attempt to screen the entire female population at
risk for the sake of the 5 per cent who might proceed to invasion if they have a precan-
cerous condition.

Although Dr Green was tireless in his efforts to diagnose and treat invasive cancer, he
believed that CIS was likely to be a benign lesion in the great majority of cases. There-
fore, he did not treat that lesion in some cases.

3. “817 who had normal smears after treatment
by ‘conventional techniques”

In the paper published in ‘Obstetrics and Gynecology’ in 1984, there were 817 patients
who came to be known as ‘Group 1’ They fell into that group because after an initial di-
agnosis of CIS their follow-up cytology was normal. They were not necessarily offered
‘conventional techniques’ but their management had resulted irt a return to negative
smears.

4. ‘Ruth’

There was a description of the treatment of one patient known as ‘Ruth’ set out intermit-
tently through the magazine article. Dr Green queried the emphasis placed on some of
the notes inthe hospital records, suggested that other doctors might on occasions have
beenresponsible for particular consultations with ‘Ruth, and questioned the histologi-
cal and cytological reports set outin the notes. Nonetheless, areading of her file proved
that it was summarised accurately in the article.

This woman also gave evidence. Not only was she a classic case of a patient who had been
brought back for smear tests and biopsies without definitive treatment for many years,
but she also had been unaware that her condition was potentially dangerous.

Professor Bonhamalsoraised anumber of points to do with the magazine article. Some
of his concerns coincided with those of Dr Green; some will be touched on at various
stages inmy report; and some are simply different arguments rather than errors of fact
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or interpretation on the part of the authors of the article. [ refer here to four of Professor
Bonhan's most significant concerns.

1. “{Were] women told there were differences
of opinion about the methods of treatmen o

The magazine article stated:
“In answer to a question about whether women were told there were differ-
ences of opinion about the methods of treatment, Greenreplied: Tsuppose
not” In answer to the same question, Professor Bonham said: ‘I wouldn't

122

know, youwould have to ask each individual doctor who treated patients’

According to the evidence produced during theInquiry both Professor Bonham andDr
Green are correctly quoted in the article. Few patients had heard the term ‘carcinomain
situ’ and few if any knew “they were getting anything other than standard management
for their disease”. L also hold the view, confirmed by Professor Bonham’s statement, “In
facthe [Dr Green]was chosentobe the clinician to teach students how to explain to pa-
tients with cancer, their conditionand treatment”, that Dr Green's explanation to patients
with cancer was detailed; but to those with carcinoma insitu he did not giveeven abas-
ic explanation.

I heard no evidence to suggest that Professor Bonham did notexplain the nature of and
treatment for carcinoma in situ to his patients.

2. “There was no hospital plan to seek
the agreement of the women to their
unorthodox treatment”

I have concluded that some women were offered unorthodox treatment and some no
treatmentat all. National Women’s Hospital has always sought the written consent of pa-
tients about to undergo operations. However, [have no evidence which persuades me
that the Hospital ensured the group of patients being monitored with positive smears
were told their management was unorthodox ot based on minority views.

3. "Professor Bonham had ultimate
responsibility”

In an interview before the magazine article was published, Professor Bonham was asked:
“_in terms of the structure of the Hospital.. who is ultimately responsible [for
Professor Green's study]?”

He answered:
“Itwould fall between both the academicside — that's Consultant Professor
Green, and the Medical Superintendent and the Hospital Medical Com-
mittee....”

Professor Bonham could notbesaid to have conceded that he had ultimate responsibil-
ity forthe 1966 trial. Laccept that responsibility for research involving patientsis shared
s he said between the academic and clinical branches of the University and the Hospi-
tal. However, he did concede while being cross-examined on the study involving vagi-
nal swabbing of neonatal (newborn) babies thatoverall responsibility forresearchlay with
the head of the academic unit, although he emphasised thatin practical terms he might
not always know that a trial was still under way.
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4. Confusion between colposcopy and
colposcopic biopsy
In his evidence in chief Professor Bonham said:
"’..the authors confuse the difference between colposcopy and col Iposcopic
biopsy. Colposcopy itselfis nottreatment. Colposcopic biopsies can be treat-
ment, in that they can remove part or all of the lesion.”

The magazine article had said:
“Where others define colposcopy as a diagnostic tool, Bonham refers to its use
as ‘treatment’. Of course, if colposcopy is ‘treatment’, then it is not possible
to claim that no patient went ‘untreated’, for althad colposcopic examination.”

In fact the authors had highlighted Professor Bonham’s own confusion or loose use of

terminology. When he was interviewed for the article this exchange took place:
Question: Though they had problems with cytology, but still no more was
done.

Professor Bonham: They had repeated biopsies and they were treated by col-
poscopy.
Question: But that’s more diagnosis.

Professor Bonham: Not really because once you find that they are gettingto
a stage of something that is bad, you take it out.

Question: But if you were following themjust with more diagnosis thatisn't
treatment is it?

Professor Bonham: It can be. It depends how much lesion they have got.
Question: But if you know there’s more?

Professor Bonham: If you know that the. ..

Question: It’s not treatment is it?

Professor Bonham: ...Yes, but you are still watching with a ‘scope. Yes I take
your point andIthink at that time, between 1965and 1975, that was fairl ly ac-
ceplable in terms of what was appropriate knowledge at the time..,.,

Question: Are you saying that you were just following people with cytology,
youare notactively treating, but you are following them up to make your di-
agnosis and then if something nasty happens, you getrid of it? You were leav-
ing them until the prognosis is actually much worse.

Professor Bonham: Itis very difficult here. That’s a theoretical argumentand
Ithink that'sright. On the otherhand, how much doyou take away, because
the patients that went wrong, a third of them got ultimatel ly carcinoma of the
vagina. Would yourecommend taking everybody’s vagina and uterus at the
beginning of the study?

Question: But don’t you actually treat somebody with a significant lesion?
Professor Bonham: Yes, that is what we do now:.

Question: But that's not what was going on then. So that the point ofsaying,
how much would you carve away, means that you would excise surel ly, until
you had negative cytology.

Professor Bonham: Yes, I think that’s fair

Question: But this includes, it involves treatment until you produce negative
cytology.

Professor Bonham: It wasn't a very large group that were watched,
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I do not think the mistake was the authors’. The confusion arises out of the convoluted
answers to their questions.

Conclusions: Apart from the matters [ have touched oninthe preceding pages and which
could not seriously be described as careless or deliberate errors in the context of a sub-
jectthatis vastand complex, Thave notbeen able to uphold theassertion in the introduc-
tion to Dr Green's evidence that:
“By far the greatest source of errors is the Metro article which played such a
significantrole in the formation of this Commission of Inquiry. Innumerable
mistakes are contained in that story; in fact, over 40 pages of Dr Green's evi-
dence is devoted to dealing with the errors contained in that publication.”

THE MEDICAL PROFESSION’'S RESPONSE
FROM 1966 TO 1986

DrMcIndoe and his co-authors and the authors of the ‘Metro’ article shared a similar ex-
perience: thereaction to their articles. They met with a wall of resistance, particularly from
members of the academic unit at National Women’s Hospital. All the writers used extraor-
dinary determination to find the truth. A great deal of energy has been putinto trying
to control the damage arising from the 1966 Proposal. [ would have expected that effort
alsoto have been directed towards aformal review of the Proposal, and in particular, some
of theissues raised by the 1984 and 1986 papers. Yet none of these issues or earlier con-
cerns were addressed.

DrMcIndoe’s written and oral concerns were not taken seriously until 1973 when, with
DrMcLean, he was encouraged by Dr Warren the Medical Superintendent to record in
detail the progress of the 1966 trial to date.

Although in 1975 the Working Party reported tothe Hospital Medical Committee, no ac-
tion was taken to consider what risk there might be to patients included in the 1966 tri-
al. The HMC, which was responsible for the clinical organisation of the Hospital to ensure
that the professional and scientific work was properly carried out, did notinsist on any
such review.

The risks to patients had been reduced to some extent by a move away from under-
treatment or no treatment of certain patients to an increased number of cone biopsies
when Dr McIndoe stopped assisting Dr Green with colposcopic services. After the Work-
ing Party Reportin October 1975, the HMC decided toreview procedures forthe manage-
ment of CIS.

it was almost three years later, in July 1978, that those management guidelines were
agreed upon. [t must be stressed, however, thaton no occasion was the 1966 trial evalu-
ated forits consequences to the patients or stopped. There was one group of 30 patients
in particular, referred to in McIndoe’s 1984 paper, who were among patients excluded
from that survey. In discussing the reasons why the authors said:

“Thirty patients with continuing abnormalcytology after the diagnosis of CIS,

butinwhom afinal histologic diagnosis had not been made (at review dated

June 1983), have also been excluded from this study. The authors assume

these women have continuing CIS but, withouta further biopsy, this cannot

be confirmed.”

During the Inquiry Dr Jones said that Dr McIndoe had discussed the paper with the then
Superintendent of National Women's Hospital and drew his attention to these 30 patients
with continuing disease who were at risk of developing invasive cancer. He suggested
that an attemptbe made tolocate and treat them. But they were not specifically reviewed.
There was no intervention, beyond their usual examination, after publication of the 1984
or 1986 papers, to ensure those patients were not at risk of developing invasive cancer.
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Onthethirtieth day of the public hearings, during cross-examination, Professor Bonham
was asked if any attempt had been made to review those 30 patients since the 1984 paper
was drawn to his attention. He said:

“The responsibility I think for this falls with the people who have taken up

this responsibility. Thatis to say, they have written about them. I have already

explained I think to you, that these cases will have been seen as th eyarecon-

tinuing.”

Question: So you think there will have been areview carried outin the nor-

mal course of Hospital practice?

Professor Bonham: Unless these patients have disappeared, moved to
another country orcity, or have failed to come, some have perhapsmoved to
private care and so on, they will have been reviewed. The numbers are sig-
nificant and handleable and I will anticipate that they have been reviewed.

Up until quite recently Dr Green was not playing any clinical partinthe Hospi-
tal, but he was looking after the review. He was sitting going through the notes
of these patients to make sure th ey were attending and being seen and until
hestopped this, which was quite recen tly really, sincel think the Inquiry start-
ed, those would have been reviewed as part of the overall review scheme.

Question: [just wondered if you could tell me whether there had been a spe-
cial attempt to review those particular 30 and to offer them an y further treat-
ment if necessary?

Professor Bonham: No. But I am only anticipating that they will have been
seen by the system.

In this exchange itappears to me that Professor Bonham considered that the responsi-
bility for reviewing those 30 patients fell to Dr McIndoe, Dr McLean, Mr Jones and Mr
Mullins, and that neither the Ethical Committee nor the HMC nor any of the senior cli-
nicians at the Hospital had any part to play. The end result, of course, is that there was
no special review of those patients within the Hospital.

Dr Graeme Duncan, the President of the Royal NZ College of Obstetricians and Gynae-
cologists, was asked whether the Royal College at any stage from the 1960s onwards
received any expressions of concern about Dr Green's management of patients. The 30
patients were not specifically referred to, but again the result was the same. The Royal
NZ College did not receive any expressions of concern nor did it take any actions toen-
sure that the 30 patients were reviewed following publication of the 1984 paper.

DrDuncan made the point that from the 1960s the process of peer review was in opera-
tionat National Women's Hospital, “senior staff of the Royal College were. . .active mem-
bers of the specialist staff at NWH” and so, if they had wished to raise the matter with
the College, then “they would have done so”. He made an interesting comment:
“We must remember that the traditional freedom of professional action can
quickly become a veil of secrecy surrounding management....”

Mr Faris was asked:
“Have you had any indication within the medical profession orwith National
Women'’s Hospital itself of any think tank or internal medical inquiry being
set up into the findings of that paper [the 1984 paper]?”

Mr Faris felthe could notspeak for the Hospital because he had notbeen an active member
of staff since that time. He did say thathe was quite certain that D-team (Dr Green'’s clin-
ical unit) and the colposcopists had analysed the paper in some detail.

Professor David Cole, Dean of the University of Auckland School of Medicine, whohad
not read the 1984 paper was asked whether, in his capacity as a high-ranking member
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of the Auckland medical profession, he had noticed any indication at all of an inquiry by
the profession into the matters raised in the 1984 paper. He replied:
“Nos

Question: Not between publication of that paper and the setting up of this
public inquiry?
Dean Cole: I don't believe so.

When Dr Gabrielle Collison, Medical Superintendent of National Women’s Hospital,
gave evidence, she told me that she had become aware of the 1984 paper around mid-1985
and thought it might have been Dr McLean whobroughtit to her attention. Dr Collison
had said in response to an earlier question that she had discussed current treatment with
Drs Jones and McLean, but not the article specifically. She was also asked whether either
of those doctors, or any other doctor at the Hospital, had suggested that there ought to
be further investigation or discussion of the information contained in the 1984 paper. Dr
Collison replied that no one had.

Onday 50 of the Inquiry hearings, the Medical Superintendent-in-Chief of the Auckland
Hospital Board, Dr Leslie Honeyman, was asked asimilar question. Herecalled thathe
had read an Abstract of the article prior to its publication, but when asked if ithad rung
any alarm bells, he said:

“No, not at all.”
He was also asked:

“Are you aware of any indication that the medical profession itself may have

setup an inquiry into the matters that this Commission has been asked to in-

quire into?”

DrHoneymansaid that there had been no such call from the profession atlarge, orfrom
agroup within the profession, nor from National Women's Hospital itself. Twenty years
of oral and written expressions of concern by Dr McIndoe, supported for much of the time
by Dr McLean and latterly also by Dr Jones, failed to persuade any part of the medical
profession to review the implications of the 1966 trial for the patients.

CONCLUSIONS

Ireserve particular disquiet not only for the fate of the 30 patients mentioned in the McIn-
doe et al paper, to whom there was a special duty owed, but also for the future of peer
review within the medical profession, if it cannot confront issues squarely and resolve
them after such sustained, detailed and well documented statements of concern about
the treatment of a group of patients and the minority view advocated by one clinician.
The Hospilal Medical Commiltee and Ethical Committee had a duty to ensure that the
1966 trial was terminated, at the very latest when the 1984 paper was published. There
had been many earlier opportunities for either of the Committees to take this step.

Duringthe course of this Inquiry the legal profession’s involvement has been criticised,
as has their questioning of the actions of the medical profession with regard to the 1966
trial and its consequences. The publication of the 1984 and 1986 papers represented the
medical profession’s last opportunity to exercise its own assessment. It failed to do so.

Atthe time when Dr Green retired, the Medical Research Council was under the impres-
sion that his work had been taken over by Dr Murray Jamieson. In the magazine article
DrMcIndoe was quoted as saying that he believed the trial “never came to an end” and
that Dr Green “carried on with varied managements to the end of his days [at the Hospi-
tal]”. In my opinion Dr Green confirmed this when he said in evidence:
“[Inthearticle] the question of whether or not a programme of conservative
treatment was ever stopped was raised. Until my retirement in January 1982,
I continued to manage patients of mine on the same conservative basis ap-
proved by the Hospital Medical Committee.
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“Itis fairto say, however, thatmy attitude, and the practice adopted by others
at National Women'’s Hospital, changed a little from 1965 to 1977 in that by
1977 virtually no patient would have been initially treated by punch biopsy
alone.”

Professor Bonham said that:
“The programmeitself was not stopped. It was modified to increase the role
of cone biopsies in management and to allow an increase in participation by
other specialists.”

InJuly 1978, guidelines for the future “definitive diagnosis of preclinical cervical cancer”
hadbeen adopted by the HMC. However, I still have no evidence before methatthe 1966
trial has been formally terminated.
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